Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Spending Strategy



"the right infrastructure, in the right place, at the right time"

V4 - 18.12.2019

Major Sites and Infrastructure Team

Contents

1.	Background	1
2.	The CIL Expenditure Review	3
3.	The new CIL spending process	6
4.	Principles of District CIL Allocations	8
5.	Priorities for Funding Infrastructure Projects	9
6.	District CIL does not fund	10
7.	Governance Arrangements	10
8.	Operation of the CIL Spending Strategy:	11
9.	Documentation, Validation and Review	12
10.	Promotion and Communication of the Strategy	13
11.	Key Contacts	14
Арр	pendices	15
A	ppendix A: Neighbourhood CIL Payments	15
A	ppendix B: Amounts approved and allocated to infrastructure projects	19
A	ppendix C: Legislation and Guidance Review: Requirements and actions	20
A	ppendix D: Draft Terms of Reference : CIL Spending Group	24
<u> </u>	ppendix E: Validation Template	26
<u>A</u>	ppendix F: Prioritisation Criteria Template	30

1. Background

- 1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was adopted in the former Waveney District area on 1st August 2013. In the former Suffolk Coastal District area, CIL was adopted on 13 July 2015. Since then the councils have collected approximately £12.4m of total CIL.
- 1.2 The National picture for CIL is that £4.5bn CIL has been collected to date by CIL Charging Authorities and they have spent £1.5bn.
- 1.3 It important to note that whilst the District CIL fund can be collecting £millions, it can take just a couple of infrastructure projects, such as expansion of Health or Education provision to empty the fund. Spending of District CIL needs to be planned, for a number of reasons, namely to deliver the right infrastructure, in the right place and at the right time.
- 1.4 CIL is paid on commencement of planning permissions that are CIL liable development. Payments are usually made in instalments and can take up to 2 years to be received in full. Once received the CIL payments are automatically split down into their statutory "pots" or funds: 5% Admin; 15%* or 25% to parish councils and the remainder to the District CIL Fund (former 123 Fund). *Where town or parish councils do not have a made Neighbourhood Plan the 15% is capped at £100 (indexed) per council tax dwelling.
- 1.5 Under the CIL Regulations, the Neighbourhood CIL is passed to the town and parish councils every 6 months; 28 April and 28 October. Only Neighbourhood CIL amounts received in the previous 6 months can be passed on, so areas where there is no new development commencing and thus paying CIL will not receive any Neighbourhood CIL. Parish councils have 5 years from the date of receipt to spend the Neighbourhood CIL. Where there is not a parish council then the funds are held and spent in consultation with the community and under the same terms as the town and parish councils spend.
- 1.6 Currently 10 Neighbourhood Plans have been made which allows these parish councils to receive 25% Neighbourhood CIL from planning permissions that are granted on or after the "made" date. There are a further 27 Neighbourhood Plans in progress with one of currently at referendum stage. This will mean that the amount of CIL passed to parish councils for local infrastructure projects will increase considerably over the plan period. This is excellent news in terms of there being funds passed direct to parish councils for them to deliver their priority projects in their areas, however it does have an impact on the level of District CIL available to deliver larger critical and essential infrastructure projects such as school extensions and extensions to GP services.
- 1.7 Since CIL has been adopted in East Suffolk, over £1.9m has been passed to parish and town councils through Neighbourhood CIL Payments (*Appendix A*). There is greater flexibility for parish councils spending in the CIL Regulations, although any unspent Neighbourhood CIL still held after 5 years from the allocation date must be returned to

East Suffolk. Under the CIL Regulations East Suffolk would then spend this CIL to support the new development in the area of the local council(s).

- 1.8 Parish councils can choose to fund projects collaboratively where local infrastructure priorities are shared with East Suffolk, other parish councils or other infrastructure providers, such as Health, Police, Highways or Education. The CIL Regulations state that parish councils can spend their Neighbourhood CIL on:-
 - (a) the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure; or
 - (b) anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that development places on an area.
- 1.9 Discussions have commenced to explore how the Council may enable a collaborative funding approach within the Community Partnerships. This would enable more to be achieved with Neighbourhood CIL, together with other grants and funding mechanisms and could address local infrastructure needs which are not confined to parish boundaries.
- 1.10 Where town and parish councils have a Neighbourhood Plan made in their area, the expectation is that Neighbourhood CIL is prioritised and spent to deliver the projects identified in the Neighbourhood Plan. This may mean that in some areas where the Neighbourhood Plan has identified strategic infrastructure, such as health or education as a priority infrastructure requirement, there will be the opportunity to collaboratively fund projects of this nature.
- 1.11 For those town and parish councils receiving 15% Neighbourhood CIL, they should consider the infrastructure needs of their area using a Parish Infrastructure Investment Plan (PIIP) to help understand and prioritise their needs and focus spend.
- 1.12 CIL expenditure processes have been under review during 2019 as a result of both the creation of East Suffolk Council and following the recent changes in the CIL Regulations that affect CIL collection, spending and reporting as from 1 September 2019. The Planning Practice Guidance on the GOV.UK website has also been updated to further explain how CIL should be managed under the new CIL Regulations.
- 1.13 An outcome of this review has been the need to revise the approach to spending District CIL funds (Former Reg 123 Funding) and to put in place new processes and controls to ensure the effective management and transparency around reporting on CIL, and all developer contributions. The previous CIL spending process related to the formative years for CIL and was an open opportunity to fund local projects, especially during a period where not much Neighbourhood CIL had yet been paid out to town and parish councils.

1.14 To date East Suffolk has formally allocated over £2.4m of District CIL to a variety of local infrastructure projects across the two former district areas. This represents approximately 35% of the District CIL received up to the end of September 2019.
 Appendix B details the amounts approved and allocated to infrastructure projects, expenditure made to date and delivery status.

2. The CIL Expenditure Review

- 2.1 CIL should be viewed as a method to mitigate and support growth and therefore its collection and spending is linked to a plan-led approach.
- 2.2 The CIL expenditure review began by looking at the revised CIL legislation and the emphasis placed within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the updated Planning Practice Guidance. There is a golden thread linking the requirements for how CIL can and should be spent with the critical and essential infrastructure identified within the local plan infrastructure delivery frameworks.
- 2.3 The review summarises the requirements within *Appendix C* and details the actions linked to these requirements. Below are the points learned from the existing approach and from the review of the latest legislative requirements:
 - a) District CIL is different to Neighbourhood CIL: Firstly, it must be focussed on those critical and essential projects identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Frameworks attached to the Local Plans. If we do not do this the risk is that the development coming forward will not be sustainable in planning terms. Secondly, there is no spending deadline for District CIL, and it may take a number of years to collect enough funds for projects as they come forward if they come forward ahead of the growth. The key element to support delivery of timely infrastructure is monitoring commencements and sharing data with infrastructure providers. This is the start of the conversation, once infrastructure needs are identified as part of the local plan, neighbourhood plan and through the planning permission process.
 - b) The recent changes in the CIL Regulations, supported by the NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance emphasise the need to spend developer contributions (CIL and s106) to ensure that development is **sustainable in planning terms**. There is now a legislative requirement for the Council to produce and publish an Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement which details those projects which the Council is collecting District CIL towards and planning to deliver in the short term, together with details of the expenditure for the financial year in relation to both s106 and CIL. The first Annual Infrastructure Statement must be published by 31 December 2020.
 - c) Previously CIL was collected and spent in line with Regulation 123 Lists; a list of generic infrastructure types. Some CIL charging authorities took this list a step

further through the identification of specific projects to be funded by CIL. The new CIL Regulations remove Regulation 123 and the infrastructure lists which detailed the types of infrastructure which CIL would support and requires all councils in receipt of any kind of developer contribution to record and report on these in a particular way. The Infrastructure Funding Statement places a greater emphasis towards the projects identified from the growth detailed in the Local Plan, which then feed into the Infrastructure Funding Statement. This ultimately means a greater focus on working with statutory infrastructure providers to work up the projects needed to deliver the critical, essential and desirable infrastructure indicated through the Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans and also identified through planning applications.

- d) To date the Council has formally allocated approximately 35% of the District CIL Pot to local projects, many of which are not identified in the infrastructure Delivery Frameworks of the Waveney Local Plan and the emerging Suffolk Coastal Local Plan and to continue to spend District CIL in this manner would put at risk the delivery of critical and essential infrastructure identified in the Local plan as essential to support new development.
- e) The emerging East Suffolk draft business/strategic plan refers to "evidence led spending of CIL to support growth". Local plan and Neighbourhood Plan projects are evidence led, but those projects that sit outside of this must be able to demonstrate their link to supporting the sustainability of the Local Plan development.
- f) Where projects have been offered District CIL Funding, many of these have not been "oven ready" schemes and therefore this can tie up District CIL that otherwise could be allocated to critical or essential infrastructure projects that may be delivered in a quicker timeframe and have more urgent and evidenced need.
- g) In the past, District CIL has been allocated to fund feasibility costs of proposed infrastructure. A feasibility study may not always identify a desirable and affordable solution and thus deliver infrastructure. These costs should therefore only form part of a project cost where the project is oven ready and deliverable. The criteria for validating and prioritising District CIL Spending should consider this.
- h) The new CIL Spending Strategy must prioritise and safeguard District CIL for recognised infrastructure to support growth. There is a risk that the past practice of funding local projects diminishes the projected funds and would leave developments without necessary infrastructure.
- i) Some of the historic projects we have allocated District CIL Funds to are not progressing and have not yet been delivered. This means funding is tied up that

could otherwise be allocated to a project that is deliverable, is included in the infrastructure delivery framework and will directly support the new housing developments in the area.

- j) The allocation of CIL to infrastructure projects is not about 'even geographical share' but must be proportionate in the way that infrastructure projects are funded where new housing and retail growth has commenced in areas and infrastructure needs have been identified in the Local Plan, Neighbourhood plan and through the planning process.
- k) The new CIL Spending Strategy must prioritise the allocation of District CIL funds to infrastructure projects that will make development within the local plan sustainable in planning terms and be deliverable in the short term. Prioritisation will ensure projects are deliverable in the short term (i.e. "oven ready" or "demonstrably deliverable") and are ready to be included on the annual Infrastructure Funding Statement (a new requirement of the CIL Regulations). This would mean projects are worked up, fully costed and have the necessary planning permissions in place before they reach the point of approval for District CIL funding.
- I) East Suffolk have allocated just short of £2m NCIL funds to town and parish councils since April 2016. By ensuring the District CIL is spent as intended, to make development sustainable where developments have commenced in a an area, this encourages town and parish councils to look at their local infrastructure needs and to plan delivery of local projects using their Neighbourhood CIL to maximise/benefit from other funding streams such as grants, local funding and crowd funding. It should be noted that the CIL Regulations give town and parish councils 5 years from the date of receipt in which to spend Neighbourhood CIL.
- m) The new CIL Regulations place new demands in relation to recording developer contributions and reporting on both s106 and CIL. As a result of this, and to meet the Councils business aims of providing information and services more digitally, we need to procure, implement and deliver a digital solution in order to be an efficient and effective service and to meet the new statutory requirements.
- n) The digital solution for managing developer contributions will enable the council to safeguard District CIL Funds towards projects identified in the Infrastructure Funding Statement as priority projects for the short term. The allocation of funds in this way will require periodic review and annual reporting on the "approved projects" that will be the focus of the Infrastructure Funding Statement. In this way the public, developers, infrastructure providers, local councils and other key stakeholders will be able to understand the infrastructure that is being delivered through developer contributions. The system publicly presents the amount of unspent or uncommitted CIL that the Council holds. It is important to recognise

that large infrastructure projects will require CIL to be built up over a period of time and the Council is not unnecessarily "holding onto CIL".

3. The new CIL spending process

- ³ _Future District CIL spend will need to focus on the critical and essential infrastructure already identified through the local plan and communicated within the planning process. A process will need to be developed to ensure that District CIL Funding is secured or ringfenced to deliver these projects in a timely manner. *Diagram 1* indicates the cyclical nature of this review process through to when a project is detailed as 'funded' in the Infrastructure Funding Statement and then delivered.
- 3.2 The CIL Spending process will ensure that the priority projects for District CIL funding are identified and communicated within the Infrastructure Funding Statement, which is now a new requirement under the updated CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended).
- 3.3 The first Infrastructure Funding Statement must be produced and published by 31 December 2020.
- 3.4 **Diagram 1** shows the cyclical nature of funding and delivering infrastructure that is required through the Local Plan only. **Diagram 2** depicts the process we would expect all projects seeking District CIL to follow.



6

Diagram 2



4. Principles of District CIL Allocations

- 4
- 4.1 There are a few key principles to bear in mind when considering applying for funding from District CIL. In all cases to be considered favourably:
 - a) The infrastructure supports new housing and/or employment growth;
 - b) Timeliness (has the new housing the infrastructure is required to make sustainable commenced?);
 - c) The benefits of the infrastructure are clear;
 - d) The infrastructure is capable of being used by the wider community;
 - e) The infrastructure proposed represents value for money;
 - f) The infrastructure should be new or if being enhanced there must be some additionality in what facilities and/or services are being provided;
 - g) Deliverability can be demonstrated (e.g. feasibility has been completed and planning permission granted);
 - h) For local projects, the project has community support demonstrated through evidence of meaningful engagement;
 - Feasibility studies will only be funded when they form part of a fully costed project that has planning permission in place and is ready to be immediately delivered – feasibility studies alone do not produce infrastructure;
 - j) Where the infrastructure is provided by a statutory partner, they agree the project is required and have the project tabled into their delivery plans;
 - k) District CIL Funds are applied for by the infrastructure provider where this is delivered by or through a statutory partner such as Highways, Education, Health or Police;
 - I) A business case is provided where funding over £50k is sought;
 - m) A suitable package of measures has been identified which allow for funding of ongoing maintenance of the infrastructure in order to secure continued use;
 - n) The timing of delivery of the project is clear and payment stages are defined;
 - Costings must be clearly defined and evidenced based (3 quotes or quantity surveyors costings provided as applicable);
 - where VAT can be claimed back this should be clear and discounted from costings;
 - q) All avenues for collaborative spend have been explored e.g. grants, other government funding (locality monies, LEP, County Council, District, Parish), Neighbourhood CIL, community fundraising, retail shop match funding and crowd funding;
 - r) There is certainty around other funding sources;
 - s) By releasing District CIL funding we can achieve infrastructure provision through collaborative spend (i.e. other grant funding, Community Partnership and locality funding, LEP/Government funding, Neighbourhood CIL, Crowd Funding/Donations);

- t) State Aid considerations do not inhibit the funding (projects where public funding is in excess of £200k);
- u) Affordability from District CIL funds (all essential and critical infrastructure needs are currently met by the CIL received from commenced developments);

5. Priorities for Funding Infrastructure Projects

- 5
- 5.1 In order to understand which infrastructure should be prioritised for funding from District CIL it is necessary to develop a prioritisation framework. In this way the council will be able to consider those projects that have not been captured in the Local Plans or Neighbourhood Plans. Where town or parish councils have a 'made' Neighbourhood Plan and they receive 25% of the CIL collected from commenced development, this funding should be prioritised towards the infrastructure highlighted within the Neighbourhood Plan and should also support the infrastructure in the Local Plan where this is a shared priority, for example for Health and Education infrastructure.
- 5.2 The following infrastructure types will be assessed accordingly together with the 'in all cases criteria' in the Principles of District CIL Spending section:

Essential Infrastructure – will be planned for in CIL forecasting and will be considered first in bids

- It is infrastructure necessary to support allocated development in order that development carried out is sustainable.
- It is infrastructure necessary to support an approved development (proposed developments with planning permission granted) in order that development carried out is sustainable.
- Is identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Framework of the Local Plans or is identified in the Neighbourhood Plan as a priority.
- It represents key infrastructure (i.e. it is classified as critical or essential within the Infrastructure Delivery Framework of the Local Plan or the Neighbourhood Plan)
- The bid/identification of need must demonstrate that the time of delivery for funding is correct.
- It represents infrastructure detailed in the Infrastructure Funding Statement.

Desirable Infrastructure – Will continue to be recognised in CIL spend forecasting and will be considered for bids on a case by case basis:

• The provision of this infrastructure addresses a current inadequacy in infrastructure terms and the benefits of the infrastructure are clear

- The infrastructure is identified as 'desirable' in the Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan
- Neighbourhood CIL funding has been allocated to fund the project
- It would allow infrastructure to be delivered through collaborative funding with district CIL being 'the last piece of the jigsaw'

Beneficial Infrastructure – considered on a case by case basis and must meet one of the following:

- By provision of infrastructure it would unlock *further opportunities* within the
 District for housing and employment growth e.g. the relocation of a Community
 Centre or similar infrastructure to a new building which would be mostly funded
 through the sale/re-use of the land as residential or business use and there are
 adequate facilities in the area to serve the development.
- It is infrastructure which has not previously been identified as essential or desirable in the IDF or Neighbourhood Plan, but a clear link can be identified in supporting the sustainability of the Local Plan.
- It is infrastructure which addresses a recently unexpected shortfall in infrastructure or community provision accounted for as having an influence on the sustainability of a community in the Local Plan. e.g. closure of a pre-school facility and the need for a replacement.

6. District CIL does not fund

- 6.1 As well as being clear about what CIL should be used for it is equally as important to be clear about what District CIL cannot fund. The following should no longer be considered appropriate spend from District CIL:
 - Up front funding for feasibility studies and professional fees where there is no guarantee that the infrastructure would be delivered;
 - Infrastructure replacement or improvements in areas where there is no major developments commencing and limited growth;
 - Infrastructure that is not supported by lead statutory bodies, for example, traffic calming or pedestrian crossings if these are not considered as required infrastructure by the Highways Authority;
 - Ongoing operational or maintenance costs; and
 - VAT where this can be reclaimed.

7. Governance Arrangements

- 7.1 A representative group from across the council will work with Major Sites and Infrastructure Officers to review applications for District CIL and to ensure that the CIL Spending Strategy operates in line with the processes further detailed. The following key points relate to this group.
 - Meetings will be held up to 3 times per year and projects pushed forward to Cabinet for approval in September each year;
 - Additional attendance to meetings of this group will be at the sole invite of the Chair;
 - The CIL Spending Group is not a forum for presentations from potential funding applicants, promotion of local projects by either members of the group or substitute or other invited member attendance;
 - The CIL Spending Group is not a forum for appeals against District CIL funding decisions.
 - All District CIL funding decisions are final.
- 7.2 A copy of the draft proposed Terms of Reference for the CIL spending Group are held as *Appendix D.*

8. Operation of the CIL Spending Strategy:

8

Year 1 of CIL Spending Strategy (April 2020 to March 2021):

- In order to understand the scale of developments commencing in this period and the likely CIL receipts from this income, and to focus spend on immediately deliverable essential infrastructure, the first year of the CIL Spending Strategy should not fund "Desirable" and "Beneficial" Infrastructure.
- 2. Year 1 will also allow time to understand the likely timescales for delivery of essential infrastructure and the impact on current District CIL funds, through close working with infrastructure providers.
- 3. CIL Spending Group to monitor Neighbourhood CIL Spending and be aware of noncompliance and clawback position and to assist in promotion of spend and reporting compliance and timeliness of spend.
- 4. CIL Spending Group to monitor completion of the first Infrastructure Funding Statement, setting the template for delivery of this moving forwards.
- 5. Agreeing the ring-fencing and spend on infrastructure projects put forward for approval that will go into the Infrastructure Funding Statement.

Year 2 of CIL Spending Strategy (April 2021 to March 2022):

- 1. CIL Spending Group to review types and nature of both Desirable and Beneficial Infrastructure and level of windfall development to understand if amounts in this category are going to put delivery of Essential Infrastructure at risk.
- 2. CIL Spending Group to consider if a ceiling level of funding or % restriction should apply to amounts allocated to Desirable and Beneficial Infrastructure.
- 3. Review of progress of projects that have been allocated District CIL.
- 4. Establish a local projects pot for Community Projects that would support growth.

Year 3 of CIL Spending Strategy (April 2021 to March 2023):

- 1. Review of progress of projects that have been allocated District CIL.
- 2. Review of ringfencing, validation and prioritisation process
- 3. Review of affordability and the appropriateness of the CIL Spending approach and recommendation of changes to Cabinet*

*Where there are changes to legislation and guidance that require an earlier review this will be moved into the relevant period.

9. Documentation, Validation and Review

- 9.1 Where applications are made by statutory infrastructure providers, such as Police, Health, Highways and Education these should not require further evidence of value for money since procurement frameworks are reviewed ensuring best value is achieved. The expectation is that the projects form part of the relevant organisation's Capital Programme. Furthermore, these bodies are also required to report on the use of developer contributions for transparency.
- 9.2 Where applications are made by local councils and other community or charitable bodies, these will have slightly greater information requirements in order to ensure best value is obtained, to be clear on funding sources and to further understand State Aid implications.
- 9.3 Downloadable District CIL Fund application forms will be held on the CIL Spending webpages, together with a template for a business plan.
- 9.4 It is important that applications (or bids) for District CIL Funds are robust and relate to projects that are "oven ready" and all avenues for collaborative funding have been explored (this is particularly in the case of desirable and beneficial infrastructure). If further information is required, a failure to provide this in a timely manner may delay the bid from validation and prioritisation. Where information is not provided by deadlines set within this process the bid likelihood that a bid is rejected will be increased. Occasionally bids may be held over for the next funding year, if the application is likely to

meet the prioritisation criteria but lacks a small amount of information. The decision by the CIL Spending Group to reject or hold over a bid will be final.

- 9.5 The validation template attached as Appendix E will be used to assess whether the project can be put forward for a funding decision.
- 9.6 The prioritisation template attached as Appendix F will assist in understanding if the infrastructure meets the requirements for funding from District CIL.
- 9.7 Where bids are rejected an explanation will be provided in writing to the applicants.
- 9.8 Application supporting documents relating to invalid applications that have been rejected will only be retained for a 2-year period, with the exception of the application form, validation checklist and decision notes which will be retained for a 7 year period after completion of final District CIL funding allocation for the project.

10. Promotion and Communication of the Strategy

10.1	The CIL Spending Strategy will be available via the councils Spending CIL webpages. The
	Strategy will be promoted to key stakeholder groups and internal teams.

Туре	Interest	Influence	Action
Cabinet	High	High	Annual update for Infrastructure Funding Statement and periodic update via CIL Spending Group feedback
Ward Councillors	High	High	Promote through member training on CIL
Parish Councillor	High	High	Promote through Parish Liaison Workshops in January 2020
Finance Team	High	Low	Promote through internal comms and CIL CPD Training
Planning Teams	High	High	Promote through internal comms and CIL CPD Training
Land Charges	High	Low	Promote through internal comms and CIL CPD Training
Managers	High	High	Promote through internal comms and CIL CPD Training
CEO/Directors	High	High	Promote through internal comms and CIL CPD Training

Building Control	Medium	Low	Promote through internal comms and CIL CPD Training
Solicitors	Medium	Medium	Available via Spending CIL webpages
House Purchasers	Medium	Low	Available via Spending CIL webpages
Agents	High	Low	Use Developer Forum to promote
Developers	High	Low	Use Developer Forum to promote
Community Groups, Public	Medium	Low	Available via Spending CIL webpages
Press	Medium	High	Available via Spending CIL webpages – Separate promotion of Projects on delivery

11.Key Contacts

Ben Woolnough BSc MSc MRTPI Major Sites and Infrastructure Manager <u>ben.wolnough@eastsuffolk.gov.uk</u> 01394 444593

Nicola Parrish Infrastructure Delivery Manager Major Sites and Infrastructure Team <u>nicola.parrish@eastsuffolk.gov.uk</u> 01502 523057

Infrastructure Team <u>CIL@eastsuffolk.gov.uk</u> 01502 523059

Appendices

Appendix A: Neighbourhood CIL Payments

Parish	Total (£)
Aldeburgh	25,395.00
Alderton	-
Aldringham-Cum-Thorpe	897.21
Badingham	7,490.70
Barnby	-
Barsham & Shipmeadow	-
Bawdsey	-
Bealings - Great	-
Bealings - Little	-
Beccles	46,843.34
Benacre (Parish Meeting)	_
Benhall & Sternfield	16,618.27
Blaxhall	-
Blundeston	760.09
Blyford & Sotherton	-
Blythburgh	5,078.25
Boulge (Parish Meeting)	-
Boyton	-
Bramfield & Thorington	7,713.26
Brampton with Stoven	692.43
Brandeston	-
Bredfield	-
Brightwell Foxhall Purdis Farm	2,076.51
Bromeswell	-
Bruisyard	-
Bucklesham	9,794.79
Bungay	6,929.65
Burgh (Parish Meeting)	-
Butley, Capl St Andrew & Wantisden	-
Campsea Ashe	187.28
Carlton Colvile	23,935.13
Charsfield	-
Chediston, Linstead Magna, Linstead Parva	-
Chillesford (Parish Meeting)	-
Clopton	-
Cookley & Walpole	-
Corton	1,829.91

Couchithe (Device Meeting)	
Covehithe (Parish Meeting)	-
Cransford (Parish Meeting)	-
Cratfield	-
Cretingham, Hoo, Monewden	7,277.58
Dallinghoo (Parish Meeting)	-
Darsham	1,005.67
Debach (Parish Meeting)	-
Dennington	318.88
Dunwich (Parish Meeting)	-
Earl Soham	4,384.26
Easton	31,510.95
Ellough, Shadingfield, Sotterley & Willingham	1,039.77
Eyke	-
Farnham	-
Felixstowe	62,109.76
Flixton - The Saints Ward	-
Flixton Lothingland Ward	4,856.50
Framlingham	607,107.55
Friston	14,047.35
Frostenden, Uggleshall & South Cove	2,942.37
Gisleham	6,441.20
Glemham - Great	-
Glemham - Little	
Grundisburgh & Culpho	932.03
Hacheston	4,495.00
Halesworth	70,097.50
Hasketon	-
Hemley (Parish Meeting)	-
Henstead with Hulver Street	_
Heveningham	6,030.99
Hollesley	2,262.00
Holton	1,181.83
Homersfield	
Huntingfield	
Iken	
Iketshall St Andrew	
Ilketshall St John (Parish Meeting)	
Iketshall St Lawrence	
	-
Ilketshall St Margaret (Parish Meeting)	- 1 002 67
Kelsale	1,803.67
Kesgrave	29,664.71
Kessingland	51,987.01
Kettleburgh	-

Kirton & Falkenham	2666.64
	3,666.64
Knodishall	11,530.90
Leiston-Cum-Sizewell	52,762.01
Letheringham	-
Levington & Strattn Hall	-
Lound	192.33
Lowestoft	85,648.28
Marlesford	1,024.90
Martlesham	35,072.10
Melton	329,195.28
Mettingham	-
Middleton	1,597.80
Mutford	1,087.31
Nacton	6,447.74
Newbourne	1,449.04
North Cove	495.44
Orford & Gedgrave	1,091.27
Otley	-
Oulton	793.49
Oulton Broad	23,770.00
Parham	-
Peasenhall	-
Pettistree	-
Playford	-
Ramsholt (Parish Meeting)	-
Redisham (Parish Meeting)	-
Rendham	-
Rendlesham	19,788.02
Reydon	7,219.96
Ringsfield & Weston	1,527.88
Rumburgh	-
Rushmere (Parish Meeting)	_
Rushmere St Andrew	3,940.17
Saxmundham	38,967.90
Saxtead	
Shottisham	_
Sibton	_
Shadingfield	1,139.85
Snape	5214.47*
Somerleyton, Ashby & Herringfleet	5217.77
Southwold	44,791.95
Spexhall	
South Elmham All Saints & St Nicholas	1 206 00
SUULI EIIIIIAIII AII SAIILS & SUNICHOIAS	1,306.89

South Elmham St James (Parish Meeting)	15.44
South Elmham St Cross	
South Elmham St Margaret	
South Elmham St Michael	
South Elmham St Peter	
Stratford St Andrew	-
Sudbourne	475.06
Sutton	-
Sweffling	-
Swilland & Witnesham	5,318.32
Theberton	_
Trimley St Martin	12,308.97
Trimley St Mary	54,771.99
Tuddenham St Martin	-
Tunstall	-
Ubbeston	-
Ufford	1,147.51
Walberswick	4,865.02
Waldringfield	-
Wangford with Henham	_
Wenhaston	-
Westerfield	32,231.89
Westhall	
Westleton	-
Wickham Market	8,240.44
Wissett	275.25
Woodbridge	69,928.68
Worlingham	5,855.22
Wrentham	18,023.49
Yoxford	5,624.79
TOTAL	1,966,542.09

* Subject to a £27 clawback

Appendix B: Amounts approved and allocated to infrastructure projects

Year	Description	ТҮРЕ	Allocated	Expenditure to 31/03/19	Balance]
2017/18	Framlingham Medical Centre extension	Health	£122,400.00	£122,400.00	£-	
2018/19	Beccles Town FC - 3G Pitch	Open space and leisure	£74,500.00	£74,500.00	£-	
2018/19	Ufford Recreation Ground Car Park Resurface	Open space and leisure	£3,000.00	£3,000.00	£-	
2018/19	Trimley St Mary - pedestrian Crossing	Highways	£45,000.00	£45,000.00	£-	
2018/19	Lowestoft - Royal Green Play Equipment and footpath improvements	Open space and leisure	£ 123,500.00	£123,500.00	£-	
2018/19	Easton & Letheringham Village Hall Refurb	Community facilities	£38,000.00	£27,084.56	£10,915.44	
2018/19	Woodbridge - Jetty Lane Community Centre	Community facilities	£ 188,800.00	£-	£188,800.00	
2018/19	Deben Estuary - Renovation of Flood Defence Wall Flood Cell 01	Flood and water management	£ 126,200.00	£-	£126,200.00	
2018/19	Worlingham Community Facility	Community facilities	£70,000.00	£-	£70,000.00	
2018/19	Beccles - Repair of moorings at Beccles Quay	Community facilities	£74,500.00	£-	£74,500.00	
2018/19	Lowestoft - Normanston Pedestrian and Cycle Bridge	Highways	£120,000.00	£79,870.31	£40,129.69	
2018/19	Bungay Community Centre	Community facilities	£366,460.00	£-	£366,460.00	1
2018/19	Framlingham - St Michael's Rooms Community Centre	Community facilities	£700,000.00	£-	£700,000.00	
2018/19	Framlingham - Walkway Routes	Highways	£55,000.00	£-	£55,000.00	
2018/19	Halesworth - Footpath Hill Farm Road	Highways	£56,002.50	£-	£56,002.50	
2018/19	Lowestoft - East of England Park	Green infrastructure	£88,000.00	£-	£88,000.00	
2018/19	Rushmere St Andrew, Playford Road Traffic Calming	Highways	£45,200.00	£-	£45,200.00	1
2019/20	Worlingham Community Facility	Community facilities	£149,478.00	£-	£149,478.00	1
			£-	£-	£-	
			£2,446,040.50	£475,354.87	£1,959,770.19	-
	* Underspend: CIL Returned to District CIL Fund					

Appendix C: Legislation and Guidance Review: Requirements and actions

Review: District Fund expenditure process – Legislative Requirements

Local Plan produced based on planned areas of growth Infrastructure required to support the new development identified and prioritised in Infrastructure Delivery Framework (IDF) IDF identifies potential funding sources for infrastructure – note there is always a "funding gap" in terms of CIL Infrastructure projects are further developed with statutory providers and prioritised and approved for funding as growth commences and CIL is being received. The annual

Infrastructure Funding Statement identifies priority District CIL funded infrastructure projects and provides update on delivery of projects.

= delivery of the right infrastructure at the right time and in the right place

NPPF - 19	2. Achieving sustainable development	Actions:
February	7. 'The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to	Planning Services
2019	the achievement of sustainable development.'	Infrastructure needs are identified through planning
	8 Achieving sustainable development means that the	consultation process in relation to major development (10
	planning system has three overarching objectives, which	dwellings and over) and through the local plan process.
	are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually	
	supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to	Systems established to monitor commencement of major
	secure net gains across each of the different objectives):	developments and to ringfence District CIL to ensure delivery of
	a) an economic objective – to help build a strong,	Key Infrastructure that is critical or essential to support the
	responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that	increase in demand.
	sufficient land of the right types is available in the right	
	places and at the right time to support growth, innovation	Infrastructure provided in a timely manner, to support growth
	and improved productivity; and by identifying and	and enable local access to services and open space.
	coordinating the provision of infrastructure;	

	b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well- designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy.	Where it is possible to improve existing infrastructure to increase capacity, this must be more energy efficient and sustainable.
CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended)	 PART 7. Application to infrastructure 59 (1) A charging authority must apply CIL to funding the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to support the development of its area. (3) A charging authority may apply CIL to funding the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure outside its area where to do an a block provide the provision of the pr	The Infrastructure Team It should be noted that CIL Spending priorities will depend on commencements, cumulative impacts and the delivery timescales of infrastructure partners. Where possible opportunities to maximise the application of CIL will be sought to ensure Neighbourhood CIL and other funding sources help to deliver local infrastructure with a collaborative spend approach. In this way we will be able to deliver more and the benefit from
	so would support the development of its area. Annual infrastructure funding statements 121A.—(1)Subject to paragraph (2), no later than 31st December in each calendar year a contribution receiving authority must publish a document ("the annual infrastructure funding statement")	CIL will be wider. The Infrastructure Team will produce the annual Infrastructure Funding Statement which will include detail of those infrastructure projects that are considered critical and essential to be delivered in the short term as housing development related to the area commences.

	 which comprises the following— (a) a statement of the infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure which the charging authority intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL (other than CIL to which regulation 59E or 59F applies) ("the infrastructure list"); (b) a report about CIL, in relation to the previous financial year ("the reported year"), which includes the matters specified in paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 ("CIL report"); (c) a report about planning obligations, in relation to the reported year, which includes the matters specified in paragraph 3 of Schedule 2 and may include the matters specified in paragraph 4 of that Schedule ("section 106 report"). (2) The first annual infrastructure funding statement must be published by 31st December 2020. 	As new technology is introduced, some of this information will be provided via a dedicated interactive Developer Contributions Database in order to provide transparency of Infrastructure Funding financial information on a "real time" basis.
National Planning Practice Guidance	 Local authorities must spend the levy on infrastructure needed to support the development of their area, and they will decide what infrastructure is needed. The levy can be used to increase the capacity of existing infrastructure or to repair failing existing infrastructure, if that is necessary to support development. Charging authorities may not use the levy to fund affordable housing. The neighbourhood portion of the levy can be spent on a wider range of things than the rest of the levy, provided that it meets the requirement to 'support the development of the area'. The wider definition means that 	The Major Sites and Infrastructure Team and the CIL Spending Group will ensure that applications for District CIL will be prioritised for funding from District CIL where they can provide timely, deliverable projects that support the growth detailed in the Local Plan. Funding should be focussed towards critical and essential projects already identified as required in the Local Plan Infrastructure Frameworks. With the implementation of a Developer Contributions Management System, all stakeholders will be able to see how funding is being allocated and spent to deliver infrastructure to support the area.

Local Plan	 the neighbourhood portion can be spent on things other than infrastructure (as defined in the Community Infrastructure Levy regulations) provided it is concerned with addressing the demands that development places on the parish's area. For example, the pot could be used to fund affordable housing. As part of each Local Plan there is an Infrastructure Delivery Framework. The tables within this section detail the importance of the infrastructure in terms of local plan delivery and prioritise the infrastructure in terms of being critical, essential and desirable. 	Major Sites and Infrastructure Team Have regard to the Critical, Essential and Desirable infrastructure projects required to support delivery of the Local Plan. Discuss delivery timescales and funding arrangements with key infrastructure providers such as Highways, Education, Police, Health, etc – adopting the principles of the right infrastructure, in the right place and at the right time.
Monitoring CIL and the Infrastructure Funding Statement	Comprehensive monitoring arrangements established to ensure commencements of CIL liable development (over 10 dwellings) are identified and the infrastructure requirements, put forward and agreed in the planning process) are prioritised for District CIL allocation to ensure timely delivery.	Planning Policy Team and the Major Sites and infrastructure Team - Tracking of development delivery to ensure CIL Funded projects are identified and discussed with key infrastructure stakeholders and added to Infrastructure Funding Statement to ensure funds are "safeguarded" to secure imminent delivery.

Appendix D: Draft Terms of Reference - CIL Spending Working Group

Appointment of Working Groups for 2020/21

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Spending Working Group

Terms of Reference:

- To act in an advisory/consultative capacity to the Cabinet Member for Planning and Coastal Management and through him/her to Cabinet/Full Council, as appropriate.
- To work with officers to review and prioritise applications for infrastructure funding through District Community Infrastructure Levy (DCIL), and to consider the relevance of applications in terms of the objectives of CIL through making development sustainable in planning terms.
- Take into account the wider strategic planning issues and collaboration with other local authorities, particularly those within the same housing market area and functional economic area and those infrastructure providers priorities.
- Consider the findings of evidence base documents to inform the preparation of documents.
- To work with officers to agree and publish issues and options papers and recommendations for infrastructure projects to be funded through DCIL for approval by Cabinet.
- To work with officers to review and support the issue of clawback notices where local town and parish councils have not spent Neighbourhood CIL (NCIL) in compliance with the CIL Regulations and the 5-year spending deadline.
- To agree on NCIL spend in areas not covered by a Parish Council.
- Act as a focal point for knowledge and information about the application of DCIL and Neighbourhood CIL (NCIL)to infrastructure projects.
- Receive progress updates on the delivery of DCIL funded infrastructure projects, as relevant.
- To scrutinise and input to the review of CIL Spending Strategy to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements and the continued delivery of infrastructure to support growth in the area and where necessary outside of the area where strategic infrastructure supports growth in the East Suffolk area.
- To review and agree the annual Infrastructure Funding Statement.

The Working Group will meet 3 times a year, subject to business.

Vice Chairman to be elected at the first meeting of the municipal year.

No substitutes. Other members can only be invited at the discretion of the Chairman of the CIL Spending Working Group.

The Working Group maintains a standing invite to relevant officers responsible for the delivery of infrastructure and other local authority or Health representatives and organisations will also be invited as and when appropriate.			
Membership - 6 (Quorum 4)			
Either the Cabinet Member with the responsibility for Planning and Coastal Management, or his/her Assistant Cabinet Member (Chair)	Assistant Cabinet Member for Planning and Coastal Management – Tony Cooper		
Relevant Cabinet Members (2)	Cabinet Member with responsibility for Communities, Leisure and Tourism – Letitia Smith		
	Cabinet Member with responsibility for the Environment – James Mallinder		
Relevant Planning Committee Chairman/Vice-Chairman (1)	Planning Committee South Vice-Chairman – Tony Fryatt		
Labour Group Member (1)	To be advised by the Labour Group		
GLI Group Member (1)	To be advised by the GLI Group		

Appendix E: District CIL Application - Assessment and Validation Template

Project –

Reviewer:

Date completed:

Validation Criteria	Notes
All the questions on the District CIL Application form must be fully completed (where information known)?	
Has the correct application form been used and has it been received within timescales?	
Costs and funding streams for provision are both clear and the sums add up?	
VAT position known?	
The description of the infrastructure, location, purpose is clear?	
Are the Benefits of the infrastructure clear?	
Is there housing or employment development in the area creating increased demand?	
Has this development commenced/ or is it preparing to commence?	
Is the application premature?	

Validation Criteria	Notes
Is the proposed infrastructure critical, essential or desirable within the Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Framework?	
Is the proposed infrastructure detailed in a Neighbourhood Plan as a priority?	
Are the parish council working towards a Neighbourhood Plan? What's the status? Has work been undertaken to understand infrastructure requirements?	
Where there is no neighbourhood plan has evidence been provided of a PIIP?	
If the infrastructure is not detailed in the Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Framework or in a Neighbourhood plan does it meet the criteria for "Beneficial" within the Priorities for Funding Infrastructure Projects Statement?	
Has the project got Community Support – what evidence is provided of this? Is it adequate?	
Is it supported by the town or parish council (if not led by them)?	
Need /Justification? If there is existing infrastructure, do the proposals create additionality?	

Validation Criteria	Notes
Is the infrastructure capable of being used by the wider community?	
If the bid is over £50K, has a business case been submitted?	
Quotations for works/Quantity Surveyors costings supplied – must supply at least three or evidence of tender process (e.g. NHS and SCC have official tender programmes in place so will already have a nominated contractor)	
How much financial support is sought from East Suffolk and for what?	
Collaborative spend – yes/no and if yes give details? % of the whole Project cost requested.	%
Who is leading on delivery? Has the right applicant applied for the funding?	
Delivery proposal and timescales are detailed?	
Does the bid demonstrate an urgent need?	

Notes

Summary of Risks:

Type of Project: Essential Infrastructure/Desirable Infrastructure/Beneficial Infrastructure

Statement:

Appendix F: Prioritisation Criteria Template

Principles of District CIL Allocations Criteria

Project –....

In all cases to be considered favourably:

a)	The infrastructure supports new housing and/or employment growth;	
b)	Timeliness (has the new housing the infrastructure is required to make sustainable commenced?);	
c)	The benefits of the infrastructure are clear;	
d)	The infrastructure is capable of being used by the wider community;	
e)	The infrastructure proposed represents value for money;	
f)	The infrastructure should be new or if being enhanced there must be some additionality in what facilities and/or services are being provided;	
g)	Deliverability can be demonstrated (e.g. feasibility has been completed and planning permission granted);	
h)	For local projects, the project has community support demonstrated through evidence of meaningful engagement;	
i)	Feasibility studies will only be funded when they form part of a fully costed project that has planning permission in place and is ready to be immediately delivered – feasibility studies alone do not produce infrastructure;	
j)	Where the infrastructure is provided by a statutory partner, they agree the project is required and have the project tabled into their delivery plans;	
k)	District CIL Funds are applied for by the infrastructure provider where this is delivered by or through a statutory partner such as Highways, Education, Health or Police;	
I)	A business case is provided where funding over £50k is sought;	
m)	A suitable package of measures has been identified which allow for funding of ongoing maintenance of the infrastructure in order to secure continued use;	

n)	The timing of delivery of the project is clear and payment stages are defined;	
o)	Costings must be clearly defined and evidenced based (3 quotes or quantity surveyors costings provided as applicable);	
p)	Where VAT can be claimed back this should be clear and discounted from costings;	
q)	All avenues for collaborative spend have been explored – e.g. grants, other government funding (locality monies, LEP, County Council, District, Parish), Neighbourhood CIL, community fundraising, retail shop match funding and crowd funding;	
r)	There is certainty around other funding sources;	
s)	By releasing District CIL funding we can achieve infrastructure provision through collaborative spend (i.e. other grant funding, Community Partnership and locality funding, LEP/Government funding, Neighbourhood CIL, Crowd Funding/Donations);	
t)	State Aid considerations do not inhibit the funding (projects where public funding is in excess of £200k);	
u)	Affordability from District CIL funds (all essential and critical infrastructure needs are currently met by the CIL received from commenced developments);	

Priorities for Funding Infrastructure Projects

The following infrastructure types will be assessed accordingly together with the 'in all cases criteria' in the Principles of District CIL Spending section:

Essential Infrastructure – will be planned for in CIL forecasting and will be considered first in bids

1	It is infrastructure necessary to support allocated development in order that development carried out is sustainable	
2	It is infrastructure necessary to support an approved development (proposed developments with planning	

	permission granted) in order that development carried out is sustainable	
3	Is identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Framework of the Local Plans or is identified in the Neighbourhood Plan as a priority	
4	It represents key infrastructure (i.e. it is classified as critical or essential within the Infrastructure Delivery Framework of the Local Plan or the Neighbourhood Plan)	
5	The bid/identification of need must demonstrate that the time of delivery for funding is correct.	
6	It represents infrastructure detailed in the Infrastructure Funding Statement.	

Desirable Infrastructure – Will continue to be recognised in CIL spend forecasting and will be considered for bids on a case by case basis:

1	The provision of this infrastructure addresses a current	
	inadequacy in infrastructure terms and the benefits of	
	the infrastructure are clear	
2	The infrastructure is identified as 'desirable' in the	
	Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan	
3	Neighbourhood CIL funding has been allocated to fund	
	the project	
4	It would allow infrastructure to be delivered through	
	collaborative funding with district CIL being 'the last	
	piece of the jigsaw'	

Beneficial Infrastructure – considered on a case by case basis and must meet one of the following:

1	By provision of infrastructure it would unlock <i>further</i>	
	opportunities within the District for housing and	
	employment growth – e.g. the relocation of a	
	Community Centre or similar infrastructure to a new	
	building which would be mostly funded through the	
	sale/re-use of the land as residential or business use	
	and there are adequate facilities in the area to serve	
	the development.	
2	It is infrastructure which has not previously been	
	identified as essential or desirable in the IDF or	
	Neighbourhood Plan, but a clear link can be identified	
	in supporting the sustainability of the Local Plan.	
3	It is infrastructure which addresses a recently	
	unexpected shortfall in infrastructure or community	
	provision accounted for as having an influence on the	
	sustainability of a community in the Local Plan e.g.	
	closure of a pre-school facility and the need for a	
	replacement.	

District CIL does not fund

The following are not considered appropriate spend from District CIL:

- Up front funding for feasibility studies and professional fees where there is no guarantee that the infrastructure would be delivered;
- Infrastructure replacement or improvements in areas where there is no major developments commencing and limited growth;
- Infrastructure that is not supported by lead statutory bodies, for example, traffic calming or pedestrian crossings if these are not considered as required infrastructure by the Highways Authority
- Ongoing operational or maintenance costs; and
- VAT where this can be reclaimed